ORIGINAL

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA

IN THE SUPREME COURT

Certiorari to Richland County

L. Casey Manning, Circuit Court Judge

RECEIVED

FEB 19 2014

S.C. Supreme Court

JONATHAN SINCLAIR PORTERFIELD,

PETITIONER,

V.

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA,

RESPONDENT

APPELLATE CASE NO. 2013-001336

PETITION FOR WRIT OF CERTIORARI

WANDA H. CARTER
Deputy Chief Appellate Defender

South Carolina Commission on Indigent Defense
Division of Appellate Defense
PO Box 11589
Columbia, SC 29211-1589
(803) 734-1343

ATTORNEY FOR PETITIONER

ISSUES PRESENTED

- 1.) Trial counsel erred in failing to appeal the trial judge's denial of his request for specific performance of petitioner's original plea bargain as petitioner did not receive the benefit of the bargain per the agreement because this issue required direct appellate review.
- 2.) Trial counsel erred in failing to include as an express term of the original plea bargain that the negotiations were global in that all charges were being disposed of per the original plea agreement and that petitioner would not be subjected to any other or additional charges not contained in that agreement.

STATEMENT

Petitioner Jonathan Porterfield pled guilty to a total of **five** robbery charges: three counts of armed robbery, one count of attempted armed robbery and one count of robbery. These pleas were entered pursuant to a plea bargain at the May 2008 term of Richland County General Sessions Court before Judge J. Michelle Childs. Pursuant to the negotiated plea bargain, petitioner was sentenced to an aggregate prison term of ten years. App. 1-16. Greg Collins represented petitioner at the plea proceeding and Assistant Solicitor Anna Good appeared on behalf of the state in the case.

Subsequently, **two** new charges were brought up against petitioner: an additional armed robbery charge and a pistol charge. The pistol charge against petitioner was ultimately dropped and substituted for an assault on a correctional officer charge. The additional charges were not included in the original plea agreement executed at the May 20, 2008 plea proceeding. A motions hearing was convened on September 25, 2008, at the Richland County General Sessions Court before Judge Childs in response to the state's attempt to indict petitioner on these two new additional charges. Greg Collins appeared on behalf of petitioner at the motions hearing and moved for enforcement of the original plea bargain that was in effect at the May 20, 2008 guilty plea proceeding. Judge Childs responded by allowing petitioner to withdraw his original May 20, 2008 guilty pleas. App. 17-32. Assistant Solicitor Anna Good appeared on behalf of the state at the September 25, 2008 motions hearing.

On March 15, 2010, a re-plea proceeding was convened before Judge Childs at the Richland County General Sessions Court during which time petitioner received a fourteen-and-one-half-year sentence after pleading guilty to **seven** charges: four counts of armed robbery, attempted armed robbery, robbery, and assault on a correctional officer along with a new negotiated plea bargain that

included a fifteen-year sentencing cap. Ashley Thomas appeared as counsel for petitioner at the re-plea proceeding and Assistant Solicitor Vanessa Shipley appeared on behalf of the state at that time.

On March 19, 2010, a sentence reconsideration hearing was held before Judge Childs during which time petitioner's trial counsel moved for the enforcement of the original ten-year plea agreement in the case. App. 33 – 54. At that hearing, both Ashley Thomas and Greg Collins appeared on behalf of petitioner and Assistant Solicitor Vanessa Shipley appeared on behalf of the state. Judge Childs re-sentenced petitioner to a prison term of twelve years and six months at that March 19, 2010 hearing. Counsels for petitioner did not appeal.

On December 2, 2010, petitioner filed a PCR application with the Richland County Office of the Clerk of Court. App. 56-61. The respondent filed a return dated February 4, 2011. App. 62-68. A supplemental PCR application was filed on August 23, 2011. App. 69-75.

A PCR hearing was convened on May 23, 2012, at the Richland County Courthouse before Judge L. Casey Manning. App. 76 – 121. Petitioner was present at the hearing and represented by Richard P. Alston. Assistant Attorney General Robert D. Corney appeared at the PCR hearing on behalf of the state.

On June 7, 2013, Judge Manning issued an Order of Dismissal in the case denying post conviction relief to petitioner. App. 123 – 139. Petitioner appealed Judge Manning's Order of Dismissal. This petition follows.

QUESTION I

Trial counsel erred in failing to appeal the trial judge's denial of his request for specific performance of petitioner's original plea bargain as petitioner did not receive the benefit of the bargain per the agreement because this issue required direct appellate review.

The PCR appeal of the denial of petitioner's request for specific performance of his original ten-year bargain was error best addressed on direct appeal rather than on PCR. Trial counsel erred in failing to appeal the trial judge's decision denying specific performance of petitioner's original plea agreement at the sentence reconsideration hearing held at the trial level.

During the PCR hearing, trial counsel testified that the solicitor was unaware of or did not recognize that there were **six** robbery arrest warrants outstanding against petitioner during plea negotiations when the plea agreement for a ten-year prison term in exchange for petitioner's guilty pleas on only **five** robbery charges became finalized; and that after the original plea agreement was executed at the original plea proceeding, the state subsequently raised a **sixth** robbery charge and a **seventh** charge (weapons charge which was later substituted for a charge of assault on a correctional officer) against petitioner. Counsel explained that the original pleas on the **five** charges were withdrawn on September 25, 2008, and a re-plea took place on March 15, 2010, on the **seven** charges and the accompanying fifteen-year sentencing cap. Petitioner was sentenced to fourteen and one half years imprisonment at the re-plea proceeding. App. 87, l. 7 – p. 88, l. 16.

After the re-plea proceeded concluded, a sentence reconsideration hearing was held on March 19, 2010. At that time, counsel objected to the re-plea and requested specific performance of the original plea bargain because it was error to add a robbery charge that was not included in the original plea bargain. App. 88, l. 20, - p. 89, l. 15.

During the sentence reconsideration hearing held on March 19, 2010, after the March 15, 2010 re-plea proceeding, trial counsel argued that the original plea deal resulted in the dismissal of all robbery charges that were not included in the original plea bargain because in return for the original agreement, petitioner cooperated and gave confessions on all robberies included in the discovery, including the robbery for which petitioner did not plead guilty to originally, but was subsequently indicted nonetheless. The solicitor decided to indict petitioner on that additional robbery charge which was not encompassed in the original plea bargain, after her superiors advised that she convict petitioner on the additional robbery charge in question. App. 35, l. 2 – p. 54, l. 9.

Petitioner testified during the PCR hearing in effect that his understanding was that he would receive a ten-year sentence in exchange for his pleas on the robbery charges contained in the original plea agreement only and that he gave confessions based on all robberies, but did not gain the benefit of the bargain because he was subsequently coerced to pled guilty to the additional charges and received a greater sentence thereafter. App. 100, lines 1-25.

In the order of dismissal issued in the case, the PCR judge denied petitioner's request for specific performance of the original plea after noting that this issue was a direct appeal matter that was improperly raised on PCR. App. 130 – 133.

Here, the lower court error occurred when the trial judge denied petitioner's request for specific performance of the original plea agreement at the sentence reconsideration hearing. Specific performance in honoring the ten-year sentence agreement on the **five** robbery charges should have been the appropriate remedy in this case. The specific performance request was made during a motions hearing held on September 19, 2008, before the re-plea, and at the re-plea proceeding held on March 15, 2010, and again at March 19, 2010, sentence reconsideration hearing.

Specific performance is the remedy used where one has been denied a constitutionally-guaranteed right. Davie v. State, 381 S.C. 601, 675 S.E.2d 416 (2009), citing to Turner v. Tennessee 858 F.2d 1201 (6th Cir. 1988) and United States v. Morrison 449 U.S. 361 (1981). In Davie, the court held that counsel was ineffective in failing to communicate a plea offer to the defendant. Moreover, specific performance of a plea agreement is an allowable remedy. In Sprouse v. State, 355 S.C. 335, 585 S.E.2d 278 (2003), the case was remanded for specific performance on the plea agreement where counsel was ineffective in failing to ensure that the state adhered to the original plea agreement in order to grant the defendant the benefit of the bargain. In Sprouse, supra, the plea agreement breach was the solicitor's classification of the defendant's second-degree burglary offense as violent because this deviated from the plea agreement. See also Custodio v. State, 373 S.C. 4, 644 S.E.2d 36 (2007), where the case was remanded for specific performance where counsel was ineffective in failing to have a plea agreement enforced because the defendant detrimentally relied on the promised plea bargain. In Custodio, supra, there was a breach of a plea agreement that included a fifteen-year cap on non-violent burglary charges in exchange for the defendant's cooperation in returning stolen items and where there was reliance on the plea bargain by the defendant when he pled guilty in the case. In Jordan v. State, 247 S.C. 52, 374 S.E.2d 683 (1988), the Court remanded the case for specific performance on the plea agreement where the solicitor did not fulfill his promise not to oppose probation at the plea proceeding according to the plea agreement. See Smith v. State, ___ S.E.2d ___, 2014 WL 463062, and Thompson v. State, 340 S.C. 112, 531 S.E.2d 294 (2000), where the Court remanded for specific performance in both cases on both of the plea agreements where both of the solicitors promised not to make sentencing recommendations on the defendants' voluntary manslaughter pleas, but breached the agreements and asked for maximum sentencing in those cases.

As a rule, once a defendant enters a guilty plea and the plea is accepted by the court, due process requires that the plea bargain be honored. State v. Thrift, 312 S.C. 282, 440 S.E.2d 341 (1994); Santobello v. New York, 404 U.S. 257 (1971). Prosecutors are obligated to fulfill the promises they make to defendants when the promises are inducements to plead guilty. State v. Miller, 375 S.C. 370, 652 S.E.2d 444 (2007). Breached plea agreements will invalidate guilty pleas. Thompson v. State, *supra*. There was a breached plea agreement in existence in petitioner's case, and thus counsel erred in failing to appeal the lower court's error in denying the request for specific performance of petitioner's original plea agreement as trial court error to be reviewed on direct appeal. Counsel's error violated petitioner's right to due process and competent legal counsel, both of which are rights guaranteed under the Sixth and Fourteen Amendments to the United States Constitution. See Hill v. Lockhart, 484 U.S. 52 (1985). Petitioner was prejudiced as the error led to a re-plea and receipt of additional convictions and a greater sentence (two and one half additional years) in comparison to the original agreement, and because but for counsel's error in failing to file a direct appeal notice in the matter, petitioner would have received appellate review on this issue.

QUESTION II

Trial counsel erred in failing to include as an express term of the plea bargain that the negotiations were global in that all charges were being disposed of per the original plea agreement and that petitioner would not be subjected to any other or additional charges not contained in that agreement.

During the PCR hearing, trial counsel testified that he erred in failing to put on the record and in the plea agreement that the warrants that were not included in the original plea bargain could

not be resurrected subsequently against petitioner. App. 89, l. 16 – p. 91, l. 25. This would have sealed the original plea agreement and precluded additional charges and a re-plea in the case.

During the sentence reconsideration hearing held on March 19, 2010, after the March 15, 2010 re-plea proceeding, trial counsel Greg Collins argued for specific performance on the original ten-year sentence as follows:

Trial counsel: I suggested to... file this motion to reconsider when I heard he was sentenced to 15 years because I feel personally responsible. [At the original plea proceeding regarding the original plea bargain], I didn't say that magic sentence that no new warrants will come out with the information contained in the discovery. I didn't say that sentence, and according to South Carolina law, if I don't say those exact words on the record, we can't enforce the plea deal. I feel like it is personally my fault... I think it is extreme for him to have a 50 percent increase in a sentence because I didn't say five or six words on the record in the original plea because otherwise he would have a ten-year sentence. App. p. 38, l. 19- p.41, l. 8

Trial Counsel: With this plea, I obviously was. I missed warrants. I didn't say the magic words because I assumed the deal was for everything encompassed, and I assumed if it wasn't included in the paperwork provided to me for the deal before the plea that they weren't intending to go forward on it. I was mistaken and now he's paying because of my mistake. App. p. 47, l. 21 – p. 48. l. 2.

Trial counsel: After the plea, when she informed me she had another warrant, she informed me her superiors told her she had to go forward with that warrant even though it was contained in the discovery. What we discussed was based on his statement, which had all the information they used for these extra warrants. So, my understanding of the deal was that this is the deal he's getting for what he admitted to because he gave them the cases on the Silver matter and the State and my understanding was that this was the deal for what he gave the plea since he cooperated. They weren't going to bring in new warrants and going to recommend ten years because he was so forthright and cooperative.

Court: I recall making sure, at a prior hearing, not the one Monday, but that everything was going to be taken care of in the plea, but you're saying since then the State agreed to not let the one be included?

Trial Counsel: ...[It is] my understanding they had dismissed one of the warrants. App. 40, l. 9 – p. 41, l. 24.

Trial counsel: not all the armed robberies had been sworn out because he [petitioner] admitted to some they weren't investigating. So, they were of the understanding that a certain number of warrants were drowning out, were closing those cases, weren't going to do the ones, they were missing, went forward with all the information they had, and, again, it is because of my mistake that [the original plea was unenforceable]. App. p. 46, l. 15 – 22.