STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA

IN THE SUPREME COURT

**RECEIVED**

JUN 24 2014

Certiorari to Richland County  
Court of Common Pleas  
L. Casey Manning, Circuit Court Judge. **S.C. Supreme Court**

Appellate Case No. 2013-001336

JONATHAN PORTERFIELD,

Petitioner,

vs.

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA,

Respondent.

**RETURN TO PETITION FOR WRIT OF CERTIORARI**

ALAN WILSON  
Attorney General

MEGAN E. HARRIGAN  
SC Bar No. 100108  
Assistant Attorney General

Post Office Box 11549  
Columbia, South Carolina 29211  
(803) 734-3737

ATTORNEYS FOR RESPONDENT

##

## ISSUES PRESENTED

- I. Did the post-conviction court rule on the claim of ineffective assistance of counsel for failure to file an appeal from the denial of specific performance of the initial ten year plea negotiation?
- II. Did the post-conviction court rule on the claim of ineffective assistance of counsel for failure to include express language that all pending warrants were being disposed of per the original plea agreement? If so, did the post-conviction relief court properly find that Counsel was not ineffective?

## STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Petitioner was true bill indicted during the March and April 2008 terms of the Richland County Grand Jury for two counts of Armed Robbery (2008-GS-40-011925, -12450). On May 20, 2008, Petitioner appeared with counsel, Greg Collins, Esquire, before the Honorable J. Michelle Childs, where he waived presentment to the Richland County Grand Jury for two additional counts of Armed Robbery and one count of Attempted Armed Robbery (2008-GS-40-11804, -11805, -11807). At this proceeding, Petitioner pled guilty to three counts of Armed Robbery and one count of Attempted Armed Robbery as indicted, as well as one count of the lesser included offense Strong Arm Robbery. The State was represented by Anna R. Good. In accordance with the State's recommendation for an aggregate sentence of ten years imprisonment, Judge Childs sentenced Petitioner to ten years imprisonment for each Armed Robbery and Attempted Armed Robbery and five years imprisonment for the Strong Arm Robbery, with all sentences to be served concurrently. No direct appeal was filed.

On September 25, 2008, Petitioner appeared again before Judge Childs with counsel, Greg Collins, for a hearing on Petitioner's motion to enforce the plea agreement. The State was again represented by Anna R. Good. In particular, Petitioner alleged there were two outstanding warrants for Armed Robbery and Possession of a Weapon during the Commission of a Violent Crime which had not been disposed of with his May 2008 guilty plea that the State elected to proceed forward on only after he entered the South Carolina Department of Corrections. Petitioner argued that he understood that his plea was going to be for all outstanding charges and that the two new charges should be included in his original ten year plea negotiations. Judge Childs denied Petitioner's request to enforce the plea agreement but allowed Petitioner to

withdraw his May 20, 2008 guilty plea to allow Petitioner and the State to re-enter plea negotiations to encompass all pending charges.

On March 15, 2010, Petitioner appeared once more before Judge Childs with counsel, Ashley Thomas,<sup>1</sup> where he pled guilty to four counts of Armed Robbery, one count of Strong Arm Robbery, one count of Attempted Armed Robbery and one count of Assault on a Correctional Officer pursuant to negotiations between Petitioner and the State for a sentence range between twelve to fifteen years imprisonment. The plea negotiations were to dispose of *all* outstanding charges against Petitioner. The State was represented by Vanessa Shipley.<sup>2</sup> Judge Childs accepted Petitioner's guilty plea to all outstanding charges and sentenced Petitioner to concurrent terms of fourteen and-a-half years imprisonment for each Armed Robbery, ten years imprisonment for Attempted Armed Robbery, and five years imprisonment for Strong Arm Robbery, all to be followed consecutively by six months imprisonment for the Assault on a Correctional Officer, for an aggregate fifteen year sentence.

Thereafter, Petitioner filed a motion to reconsider his sentence and a hearing on said motion was held before Judge Childs on March 19, 2010. Petitioner was present at the hearing with current counsel Thomas and former counsel Collins. Shipley appeared on behalf of the State. By order filed August 12, 2010, Judge Childs ordered Petitioner's sentences be amended to twelve years imprisonment "for the Armed Robbery charges."

Petitioner filed an application for post-conviction relief on December 2, 2010, alleging that he was being held in custody unlawfully based on allegations that he "was originally

---

<sup>1</sup> Petitioner's former counsel, Gregory Collins, was no longer employed by the Fifth Circuit Public Defender's Office at the time of Petitioner's second plea, and Thomas assumed representation of Petitioner

<sup>2</sup> Similarly to the changes that occurred with Petitioner's counsel, Good was no longer employed by the Fifth Circuit Solicitor's office, and Shipley took over the prosecution of this case.

sentence to 10 yrs. [sic] for these same charges. Everyone except 2008-GS-40-424)” and that he “cannot be resentenced and given a harsher sentence for the same charges [he] already pled to.” App. p. 58. Respondent made its Return on February 9, 2011, requesting an evidentiary hearing be held. A “Supplemental Application for Post-Conviction Relief” was filed by Petitioner, through his counsel, on August 23, 2011, alleging that “the public defender for [Petitioner] did not monitor the charges that the [Petitioner] pled guilty to on May 20, 2008, and ensure that Applicant was pleading to all outstanding charges with the correct warrant and indictment numbers.” App. p. 72. An evidentiary hearing was convened on May 23, 2012, at the Richland County Courthouse before the Honorable L. Casey Manning. Petitioner was present and represented by Rowland P. Alston, III, Esquire. Respondent was represented by Assistant Attorney General Robert D. Corney of the South Carolina Attorney General’s Office. Petitioner testified on his own behalf at the hearing and presented testimony from both former counsels Ashley Thomas and Gregory Collins. Respondent presented testimony from one of the former prosecuting Assistant Solicitors, Anna R. Good. Judge Manning denied and dismissed Petitioner’s application by written order signed March 26, 2013 and filed March 27, 2013. Petitioner’s subsequent “Motion to Alter or Amend” was denied on June 7, 2014 by written Order filed June 17, 2013.

Petitioner filed a Petition for Writ of Certiorari on February 19, 2014. This Return follows.

## STANDARD OF REVIEW

The post-conviction relief court's findings of fact and conclusions of law receive great deference during appellate review. Caprood v. State, 338 S.C. 103, 109, 525 S.E.2d 514, 517 (2000). The proper standard of review in a post-conviction relief action is whether "any evidence of probative value" exists to sustain the post-conviction relief court's findings. Cherry v. State, 300 S.C. 115, 119, 386 S.E.2d 624, 626 (1989) (emphasis added). The reviewing court will affirm if there is any evidence to support the post-conviction relief court's ruling. Moore v. State, 399 S.C. 641, 646, 732 S.E.2d 871, 873 (2012). This Court will reverse the post-conviction relief court's decision when it is controlled by an error of law. Suber v. State, 371 S.C. 554, 558-59, 640 S.E.2d 884, 886 (2007) (citing Sheppard v. State, 357 S.C. 646, 651, 594 S.E.2d 462, 465 (2004)).

In a post-conviction relief action, an applicant bears the burden of proving the allegations in his application. Butler v. State, 286 S.C. 441, 334 S.E.2d 813 (1985). Where the application alleges ineffective assistance of counsel as a ground for relief, the applicant must prove that "counsel's conduct so undermined the proper functioning of the adversarial process that the trial cannot be relied upon as having produced a just result." Strickland v. Washington, 466 U.S. 668 (1984); Butler, *supra*.

The proper measure of performance is whether an attorney provided representation within the range of competence required in criminal cases. Courts presume that counsel rendered adequate assistance and made all significant decisions in the exercise of reasonable professional judgment. Strickland, *supra*. An applicant must overcome this presumption in order to receive relief. Cherry, *supra*.

The reviewing court applies a two-pronged test in evaluating allegations of ineffective assistance of counsel, and both prongs must be established by an applicant to receive relief. Strickland, supra. First, an applicant must prove that counsel's performance was deficient. Under this prong, the court measures an attorney's performance by its "reasonableness under professional norms." Cherry, 300 S.C. at 117, 386 S.E.2d at 625, citing Strickland, supra. Second, counsel's deficient performance must have prejudiced the applicant such that "there is a reasonable probability that, but for counsel's unprofessional errors, the result of the proceeding would have been different." Cherry, 300 S.C. at 117-18, 386 S.E.2d at 625. With respect to guilty plea counsel, the applicant must show that there is a reasonable probability that, but for counsel's alleged errors, he would not have pled guilty and would have insisted on going to trial. Hill v. Lockhart, 474 U.S. 52 (1985).

## ARGUMENT

- I. **The post-conviction court did not rule on the claim of ineffective assistance of counsel for failure to file an appeal from the denial of specific performance of the initial ten year plea negotiation; and therefore, this allegation is not preserved for appellate review. However, if this Court finds this allegation to be reserved, Petitioner failed to meet his requisite burden of proof.**

Petitioner contends that Counsel was ineffective for failing to appeal the plea court's denial of specific performance of his original plea bargain for ten years imprisonment. Petitioner contends the issue of whether Petitioner was entitled to the "specific performance of his original ten-year bargain was . . . best addressed on direct appeal rather than on PCR." PWC p. 5. However, Petitioner did not raise this issue in his post-conviction relief application, supplemental application, or at the evidentiary hearing. At the post-conviction relief evidentiary hearing, there was no testimony whatsoever regarding Counsel's failure to file an appeal on Petitioner's behalf. Additionally, the post-conviction relief court's Order of Dismissal does not address this allegation, nor is this allegation addressed in Petitioner's Motion to Alter or Amend.

It is well settled that an issue that has not been presented to or ruled upon by the lower court will not be considered on appeal. State v. Gee, 262 S.C. 373, 204 S.E.2d 727 (1974). If an issue is raised but not ruled upon, it is not preserved for appeal. State v. Watts, 321 S.C. 158, 467 S.E.2d 272 (1996). Only a matter that has been ruled on below can be reviewed, otherwise, the appellate court would be exercising original jurisdiction. Gee, 262 S.C. 373, 204 S.E.2d 727. This also applies to post-conviction relief proceeding. See Burgess v. State, 402 S.C. 92, 738 S.E.2d 264 (Ct. App. 2013) (holding that an issue must be ruled upon by the post-conviction relief court to be preserved for appellate review). Petitioner has not previously raised this issue

and the post-conviction relief court did not rule on this allegation; therefore, it is not preserved for appellate review.

However, assuming *arguendo* that this issue is preserved for this Court's review, this allegation is wholly without merit. The United States Supreme Court has rejected a "bright-line rule that counsel must always consult with the defendant regarding an appeal." Roe v. Flores-Ortega, 528 U.S. 470, 480 (2000). Instead, the Court held that "counsel has a constitutionally imposed duty to consult with the defendant about an appeal when there is reason to think either (1) that a rational defendant would want to appeal (for example, because there are nonfrivolous grounds for appeal), or (2) that this particular defendant reasonably demonstrated to counsel that he was interested in appealing." Id. "[A]lthough not determinative, a highly relevant factor in this inquiry will be whether the conviction follows a trial or a guilty plea, both because a guilty plea reduces the scope of potentially appealable issues and because such a plea may indicate that the defendant seeks an end to judicial proceedings." Id.

Petitioner presented no testimony and offered no evidence that he ever requested counsel file an appeal on his behalf. Additionally, Petitioner never testified that he wanted to appeal his guilty plea proceeding(s). Furthermore, Petitioner never testified that counsel did not consult with him regarding an appeal. Therefore, as Petitioner wholly failed to present any evidence on this issue, he has failed to meet his requisite burden of proof.

**II. The post-conviction court did not rule on the claim of ineffective assistance of counsel for failure to include express language that all pending warrants were being disposed of per the original plea agreement, and therefore, this allegation is not preserved for appellate review. However, if this Court finds this allegation to be preserved, Petitioner failed to meet his requisite burden of proof.**

Petitioner argues that trial counsel was ineffective for failing to ensure that his initial ten year plea bargain was globally encompassing of all pending charges. However, Petitioner presented this issue during the lower court proceeding as whether he was entitled to specific performance or resentencing of ten years in accordance with his initial guilty plea or whether counsel was ineffective for failing to monitor all pending charges against Petitioner. App. p. 58; p. 72-73; p. 127; p. 131. The specific allegation that counsel was ineffective for failing to include any express language as to all pending charges was not raised or ruled upon by the post-conviction relief court; therefore it is not preserved for appellate review. See Gee, supra; Watts, supra; Burgess, supra.

However, assuming *arguendo* that this issue is preserved for this Court's review, the post-conviction relief court properly found that counsel was not ineffective regarding Petitioner's guilty plea proceeding and specific performance of his initial guilty plea sentence. First, there is credible evidence that the State would have rescinded its offer had it known of the additional charges. In Missouri v. Frye, 132 S.Ct. 1399 (2012), the United States Supreme Court outlined the standard for proving ineffective assistance of counsel in plea bargaining situations in accordance with the two-prong analysis of Strickland. The Court opined that to satisfy the prejudice prong of Strickland in plea circumstances, applicants "must . . . demonstrate a reasonable probability the plea would have been entered into without the prosecution cancelling . . . or the trial court refusing to accept" the plea deal extended. At the evidentiary hearing,

testimony from the prosecuting solicitor responsible for developing the plea offers in Petitioner's case established that there is no reasonable probability the State would have allowed the plea to be entered for a ten year term of imprisonment to dispose of *all* six of Petitioner's outstanding Armed Robbery charges. App. p. 108-109. Good's testimony, which the post-conviction relief court deemed credible, plainly reflects it was never her intention to extend the ten year plea offer in May of 2008 to dispose of six Armed Robbery charges, and she testified she would have never extended a ten year plea offer to dispose of that large of a number of Armed Robberies. App. p. 107-109. Therefore, the post-conviction relief court properly determined that Petitioner failed to establish any resulting prejudice resulting from any of counsel's alleged deficient performance as there is no reasonable probability that, but for counsel's alleged deficiency, Petitioner would have been able to enter the ten year plea to dispose of all six outstanding Armed Robbery charges.

Second, Petitioner alleged he entered his plea with the understanding that it would dispose of all outstanding charges, regardless of whether they were specifically mentioned at the plea hearing. This claim is best interpreted as one of an involuntary guilty plea, for which the proper remedy would be vacation of the underlying plea in its entirety. That is the *precise* relief previously granted to Petitioner by Judge Childs in September of 2008 following the hearing on the motion to enforce the plea agreement. Accordingly, Petitioner cannot prove resulting prejudice as he has already been afforded the precise relief available under such a post-conviction relief allegation.

Third, the plea offer extended to Petitioner was merely that the State would recommend a ten year term of imprisonment, not a negotiation between Petitioner and the State guaranteeing

him a ten year sentence. See App. p. 7 ln. 18. Such a plea offer would not be binding on the plea court upon entry of Petitioner's plea or require the imposition of a ten year sentence. Therefore, Petitioner cannot establish that he pled guilty with the knowledge that the plea court would make the ultimate decision whether to follow or deviate from the State's recommended plea offer.

Lastly, the Assault on a Correctional Officer charge was not part of the May 2008 plea negotiations, as it arose following Petitioner's initial guilty plea proceeding in 2008. App. p. 140-41. Therefore, even if Petitioner had established that he was entitled to enforce the May 2008 plea agreement for a ten year term of imprisonment enforced to dispose of the six Armed Robbery charges, the Assault on a Correctional Officer charge would still be outstanding. Under the relevant law at the time, Assault on a Correctional Officer carried a potential sentence of six months up to five years imprisonment, with the mandatory requirement that any sentence be run consecutively to any other sentence(s) being served. See S.C. Code Ann. § 16-3-430 (2003). Therefore, Petitioner cannot establish that had the original ten year plea agreement been enforced, there is a "reasonable probability" of a different outcome on the charges as he still would have been facing a potential five year consecutive sentence on the Assault charge, amounting to an aggregate fifteen year term of imprisonment.

Based on the foregoing, the post-conviction relief court did not rule on the issue as to whether counsel was ineffective for failing to ensure that his initial ten year plea bargain was globally encompassing of all pending charges; and therefore, this issue is not preserved for appellate review. However, if this Court finds the issue is preserved for appellate review, Petitioner failed to meet his requisite burden of proof.

## CONCLUSION

For the foregoing reasons, this Court should deny this Petition. Should this Court grant the Petition for Writ of Certiorari, Respondent requests permission to more fully brief the issues herein.